          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          8

             -------------------------------x

          9

         10                 April 19, 2007

                            Start:  10:35 a.m.

         11                 Recess: 11:45 a.m.

         12                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         13                 New York, New York

         14

                  B E F O R E:

         15

                         HELEN FOSTER

         16                                Chairperson,

         17

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Joseph Addabbo

         18                                 Alan Gerson

                                            Letitia James

         19                                 Dennis Gallagher

                                            Charles Barron

         20                                 Gale Brewer

                                            Albert Vann

         21                                 Robert Jackson

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Christopher Zunner

          4  Alvin Ailey American Dance Theater

          5  Larry Wood

             Goddard Riverside Community Center

          6

             Thomas Guidice, Jr.

          7

             Donna Raymond

          8

             Daniel Rivera

          9

             Anna Fernandez

         10

             Charlene Phillips

         11

             Bryan Williams

         12

             Shauwana Dill

         13

             Ali Lamont, Jr.

         14

             Donovan Richards

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We are going to

          3  be starting in about three minutes.  We are waiting

          4  for some Committee members. We have a number of

          5  hearings going on.  Anybody that wants to testify,

          6  please make sure to go over to the Sergeant's desk

          7  and sign in, so that we know that you're here, and

          8  we can recognize you.  Thank you.

          9                 I am Diane Foster.  I'm Chair of the

         10  Parks and Recreation Committee.  We are going to

         11  start this meeting.  I want to introduce my

         12  colleagues.  We have been joined by Dennis Gallagher

         13  from Queens, Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Jeff

         14  Haberman, who is Head Counsel.  Excuse me,

         15  gentlemen, we've been joined by Charles Barron of

         16  Brooklyn and Council Member Alan Gerson from

         17  Manhattan.

         18                 The procedure on how we are going to

         19  start today's hearing, as you know, we are

         20  entertaining the package of name changes for streets

         21  throughout New York City.  As you know, we do this

         22  twice a year, so there are going to be some

         23  differing of opinions on how we proceed on some of

         24  the names.  I'm going to ask that -- Gentlemen, if

         25  you could take it outside, please.
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          2                 I'm going to ask that we disagree

          3  respectfully and don't follow the lead of my

          4  colleagues up here and talk while other people are

          5  talking, and absolutely respect the Chair.  When I

          6  say time is up, time is, in fact, up.

          7                 We will start with our first panel,

          8  which will consist of Christopher Zunner, Larry Wood

          9  and Thomas, I need help, is this Mageese?  Guidice.

         10  If you three can come right here and testify,

         11  please.

         12                 Oh, yes, and I'm sorry, thank you.

         13  That's why I have counsel here to remind me of the

         14  things.  We have three procedural amendments to the

         15  bill before you get started.  The first amendment

         16  is, instead of co-naming it Alvin Ailey Way, it will

         17  be Alvin Ailey Place.  In Section 38 the bill will

         18  correctly identify the Borough as Queens and not

         19  Brooklyn, and Section 44 is being deleted at the

         20  request of the Council Member.  You may get started.

         21  Push the light.  If it's off, it's on.  The light's

         22  off, the mic is on.  There you go.

         23                 MR. ZUNNER:  Good morning,

         24  Chairperson Foster and Members of the Parks and

         25  Recreation Committee.  My name is Christopher
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          2  Zunner.  I thank you for the opportunity to speak on

          3  behalf of the Alvin Ailey American Dance Theater and

          4  ask your support of Intro 556, specifically the

          5  proposed relocation of the Alvin Ailey street sign

          6  from West 61st Street to West 55th and 9th Avenue.

          7                 I've worked with the Ailey

          8  organization for nearly 25 years, and I'm

          9  responsible for coordinating Ailey's 50th

         10  anniversary celebration, which will begin in New

         11  York in spring, 2008.  Please know that the

         12  relocation of the Alvin Ailey's Place sign to our

         13  permanent home at West 55th and 9th Avenue will be a

         14  tremendous honor in recognizing Mr. Ailey's life,

         15  spirit and achievements.

         16                 Both in Rogers, Texas in 1931, Mr.

         17  Ailey began his career by creating dances based upon

         18  his blood memories of Texas, the blues, spirituals

         19  and gospel, resulting in his inspiring and

         20  critically acclaimed signature work, "Revelations."

         21  The Alvin Ailey American Dance Theater grew from a

         22  now fabled performance in New York City in March,

         23  1958 by a group of young African American modern

         24  dancers led by Alvin Ailey.  Since that time, the

         25  Alvin Ailey American Dance Theater has become one of

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  the world's premiere modern dance companies and

          3  cherished cultural ambassadors, using the beauty and

          4  humanity of the African American heritage and other

          5  cultures to unite, educate, entertain and inspire.

          6  The Company has performed for an estimated 21

          7  million people across the country and around the

          8  world, including many State Department tours and two

          9  historic residencies in South Africa.

         10                 Guided by Artistic Director, Judith

         11  Jamison since Mr. Ailey's death in 1989, the Alvin

         12  Ailey American Dance Theater continues his

         13  pioneering mission and has grown to encompass The

         14  Ailey School, Ailey II, Ailey Arts in Education and

         15  Community Programs and the Ailey Extension.

         16  Supported by the Alvin Ailey Dance Foundation, a

         17  501(c)3 not-for-profit organization, Ailey's

         18  programs reach nearly 400,000 people annually in New

         19  York City and around the world.

         20                 In 1993, an honorary Alvin Ailey

         21  Place street sign was placed at West 61st Street and

         22  10th Avenue near our former rental studios.  In

         23  2005, Ailey moved to a permanent home, the nation's

         24  largest center for dance at West 55th Street and 9th

         25  Avenue near where Alvin Ailey lived, worked and near
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          2  the location of Ailey's annual season at New York

          3  City Center.  Therefore, we are requesting the

          4  relocation of the honorary street sign to the corner

          5  of West 55th Street and 9th Avenue.

          6                 This request has the support of our

          7  neighborhood representatives, including Community

          8  Board 4, the Midtown West Business Association and

          9  the West 55th Street Block Association.           We

         10  hope that you will vote to relocate the honorary

         11  Alvin Ailey Place sign, so that it will be near the

         12  permanent home of the organization that is Alvin

         13  Ailey's valuable legacy and an important part of New

         14  York City's cultural landscape.

         15                 On behalf of Judith Jamison and the

         16  Ailey organization, I thank you again.

         17                 MR. WOOD:  Good morning.  I'm

         18  honored.  My name is Larry Wood.  I'm an organizer

         19  activist at Goddard Riverside Community Center, and

         20  I'm honored to be a witness on behalf of Bernie Wohl

         21  in the effort to co- name West 88th Street and

         22  Columbus Avenue as Bernie Wohl Way.

         23                 I provided some material to you on

         24  the Goddard Riverside letterhead.  That material

         25  highlights programmatic milestones over the 26 years
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          2  Bernie was the Head Worker.  He didn't like the

          3  title Executive Director, but Head Worker at Goddard

          4  Riverside.  There is an accompanying New York Times

          5  story, but these really don't do justice to how

          6  beloved and well- regarded Bernie was.

          7                 Bernie was truly a giant in his

          8  field.  He was the quintessential old school social

          9  worker.  He had an international reputation.  In

         10  addition to Goddard Riverside, he was active here in

         11  New York City, United Neighborhood Houses.  He

         12  served on the Board of UNCA, which is the United

         13  Neighborhood Centers of America, and he was active

         14  in the International Federation of Settlement

         15  Houses.

         16                 Goddard Riverside is a huge social

         17  service agency on the Upper West Side and Central

         18  Harlem with a whole array of programs.  It has a

         19  history of over 125 years old serving parents,

         20  youths, seniors and homeless.  The thing that I

         21  really want to stress about Bernie though is he had

         22  a very strong belief in social justice and social

         23  action and was committed to social changes as a

         24  social worker in addition to providing services.  He

         25  felt it was very important to get to the root causes
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          2  of why people are poor and why there were

          3  differences among people in our society and what we

          4  could do to address those.

          5                 He was absolutely committed to

          6  fostering civic involvement and activism and

          7  struggling to find how we could work together across

          8  race and class divides to address the issues that

          9  impinge on people's lives.  He did that very

         10  successfully.

         11                 Why West 88th Street and Columbus

         12  Avenue?  Goddard Riverside has programs throughout

         13  the Upper West Side and Harlem, but that particular

         14  corner is where we have our headquarters, Phelps

         15  House.  Phelps House has an interesting history too,

         16  which illustrates how he moved a controversial

         17  project and got consent to this in the community and

         18  built a strong legacy.

         19                 Phelps House is senior disabled

         20  housing, it's Section 202 housing, and when it was

         21  initially proposed in the early 80's, the community

         22  litigated against it, the not- in- my- backyard

         23  approach to stop the construction of senior housing

         24  in the Upper West Side.  It took a lot to turn the

         25  neighborhood around and get the support for the
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          2  programs and also for the SROs, the supported SROs

          3  we run on the Upper West Side.  Some of our biggest

          4  supporters now are on West 88th Street, and people

          5  who initially opposed the project, are now some of

          6  the greatest supporters. That's the northeast

          7  corner, the southeast corner. We have Top Op, a

          8  program that employs formerly homeless, mentally ill

          9  men and women who work on the Upper West Side in

         10  many jobs, including the business improvement

         11  district, maintaining the Broadway malls.  It's down

         12  the block from Capitol Hall, which was the first SRO

         13  acquired by a non-profit in the City, and it became

         14  a model and led to the creation of the Supported

         15  Housing Network. He's a strong legacy of both

         16  running great programs, fighting for social justice,

         17  again across race and class divides, and I really

         18  want to thank the Block Association, the Community

         19  Board and Council Member Gale Brewer for supporting

         20  our request. Thank you.

         21                 MR. GUIDICE:  Good morning everyone.

         22  My name is Thomas Guidice, Jr.  I'm on behalf of my

         23  Dad, naming the street after name, the Conselyea

         24  Street Block Association and Swingers Sixties.  My

         25  dad was the President and very active in the
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          2  Community Board.  He was a Community Board 1 member,

          3  and he was very respected and loved, and all the

          4  politicians said that they should name the street

          5  after him where the Community Board and Swinging

          6  Sixties Center was, Thomas Guidice Way.

          7                 My dad worked effortlessly in the

          8  neighborhood.  He did it on his own.  He's a retired

          9  detective.  I think that would be something great

         10  for him and his memory, and all the Council people

         11  in the neighborhood and everybody is behind it 100

         12  percent. Thank you very much.  I appreciate it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         14  We've been joined by Robert Jackson from Manhattan,

         15  Council Member Al Vann from Brooklyn, Council Member

         16  Letitia James from Brooklyn.  I know Council Member

         17  Brewer would like to say something.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  First, thank

         19  you to the Chair.  Thank you very much.  And,

         20  second, I'm speaking on behalf of certainly Alvin

         21  Ailey Way and Bernie Wohl Way, these are both

         22  supported by the community.  I think there is a

         23  reason for secondary name when you look at these two

         24  individuals and what they've accomplished, not only

         25  personally but in terms of sustainability in our
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          2  neighborhood.  The two institutions that they

          3  initiated will survive beyond many years that any of

          4  us will, and they will continue to serve the

          5  neighborhood and the City of New York in ways that

          6  we can only imagine, so thank you, Madam Chair, and

          7  I look forward to passage of these two items in

          8  particular.

          9                 I also want to just put a plug in for

         10  the future. I do hope that in general we can think

         11  of a way to put this information of all of our

         12  secondary names up on the web, so that people know

         13  not only here when they read what background is of

         14  the individuals, but so that the public, again for

         15  generations for come, will know.  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, and I

         18  hope we can do that also, so that people will know

         19  the history.  Thank you for taking the time to

         20  testify.  Actually, I spent a whole summer in an

         21  Alvin Ailey program many, many moons again, and

         22  discovered that the talent I thought I had for dance

         23  wasn't really there, but it was an enjoyable summer

         24  nonetheless.  Thank you very much, gentlemen.

         25                 Our next panel is Donna Raymond,
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          2  Daniel Rivera

          3                 MS. RAYMOND:  Good morning.  My name

          4  is Donna Raymond.  I'm here on behalf of Betty

          5  Trezza, a very dear friend of mine in re- naming

          6  Orient Avenue in Brooklyn, additional signage

          7  actually.

          8                 Betty was born August 4, 1925, one of

          9  12 children, died January 16, 2007 at the age of 81

         10  in the same home that she was born in at 31 Orient

         11  Avenue in Brooklyn.  Betty played professional

         12  baseball during World War II to keep Americans' past

         13  time alive while the men to war, was recruited at

         14  the age of 17. It was Cubs owner, Phillip Wrigley,

         15  who started the women's league in 1943, and it

         16  survived until 1954.  Betty, who gave up her job in

         17  the Garment center to play ball, had to convince her

         18  mother that there would be chaperones and that the

         19  girls had to abide by strict rules and, with that,

         20  got her mother's blessings.

         21                 Although Betty did not star in the

         22  movie, "A League of Their Own," she was in a league

         23  of her own.  In 1988, when women in baseball were

         24  honored at the Baseball Hall of Fame in Cooperstown,

         25  Betty's name appeared on a plaque, which is
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          2  displayed in the hall, along with a baseball signed

          3  by Betty and her teammates.

          4                 Betty and I worked for 25 years at

          5  Pfizer, Incorporated and have remained friends.

          6  Betty's last position at Pfizer was data entry

          7  supervisor.  After her retirement from Pfizer, Betty

          8  remained active to support her dream of women being

          9  acknowledged in sports and to her community, joining

         10  her neighborhoods at outreach meetings.  She was

         11  also active in her church and will be greatly

         12  missed.

         13                 For this reason, I am requesting with

         14  another good friend of Betty's, Lillian Gilass

         15  (phonetic) also a resident of Orient Avenue, in

         16  asking you to consider additional signs for Orient

         17  Avenue to read Betty Trezza Way because not many

         18  communities have a hometown hero such as Betty.

         19  Thank you very much.

         20                 MR. RIVERA:  My name is Daniel

         21  Rivera.

         22                 MS. FERNANDEZ:  My name is Anna

         23  Fernandez.

         24                 MR. RIVERA:  We want to thank you,

         25  the Parks Committee, for the opportunity to present
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          2  testimony here today. I'm here with Anna Fernandez,

          3  obviously, the mother of police officer Marlene

          4  Rivera, Jose Rivera, the father of Marlene Rivera,

          5  Janet Padilla, the sister of Marlene Rivera and my

          6  wife, Maria Rivera.

          7                 I've known Marlene for over 15 years,

          8  and in those years that I've known her I've never,

          9  ever known her to have a frown in her face.  Her

         10  demeanor was always positive and uplifting. Her loss

         11  was not just an absence of her physical self, but a

         12  loss of potential.

         13                 Marlene could have done anything she

         14  wanted. However, she chose a career as a public

         15  servant since she felt she could make a difference.

         16  She exerted a positive influence in everyone in her

         17  community from seniors to children.  To her, it was

         18  not just about getting the bad guys and making the

         19  City safe.  She wanted to show the youth in her

         20  community that if she could make it, so could they

         21  through hard work and commitment.

         22                 Marlene resided with her immediate

         23  family in Brooklyn, and we just want to thank you,

         24  the Committee, thank Community Board 1 and Council

         25  Member Diana Reyna, for considering the family's
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          2  request to honor Police Officer Marlene Rivera's

          3  commitment to her community and to the City of New

          4  York by surnaming the northwest corner of Palmetto

          5  Street and Wilson Avenue, Marlene Rivera Walk.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          8  much.  Our next panel is Charlene Phillips,

          9  Community Board No. 3 and Bryan Williams.

         10                 MS. PHILLIPS:  Good morning to you

         11  all.  My name is Charlene Phillips.  I'm the

         12  District Manager for Community Board 3 and this

         13  section of Bedford Stuyvesant in Brooklyn.  My

         14  reason for being here today to testify is that

         15  Bedford Stuyvesant is a really unique community, and

         16  the people do come together, and they learn, and

         17  they live and they love together.  It's a community.

         18    It's a family community.  When people decide who

         19  they want their heroes to be, I don't know that

         20  anyone should be able to tell them or define who

         21  their heroes are.

         22                 I think that we went through a

         23  process to have a street co-named, not re-named but

         24  co-named, which is only a few blocks.  For a person

         25  that the people of the community said they wanted
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          2  this street co-named for.  What we were asking is

          3  that be honored because it's a local process.  These

          4  people live here. They work here.  They re-invest

          5  their money here, and they should be able to say who

          6  they want to be proud of for what the reasons they

          7  want to be proud of.  I'm positive that in

          8  everyone's life there are some negative things that

          9  they would rather not be known, but what we should

         10  be always concentrating on are the positive

         11  contributions that people make to their people and

         12  their community. Thank you.

         13                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Good morning.  Bryan

         14  Williams, community resident of Bed-Stuy.  I'm

         15  reading a statement on behalf of the Black Men's

         16  Movement.

         17                 Once again, the Black community here

         18  in New York City is under attack, this time led by a

         19  know-it-all, do it my way, or else, billionaire

         20  posing as the Mayor of New York.  At the core of

         21  this attack is the racist contempt for Black people

         22  that flows in the minds of these individuals in

         23  power.  The Black Men's Movement has and will

         24  continue to protect the Black community's right to

         25  self determination.
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          2                 Twenty years ago, a crack- crazed

          3  young man robbed and brutally murdered Mildred Moms

          4  Chambers, a community activist and 67- year- old

          5  mother- in- law of renowned Brooklyn Black

          6  nationalist, Sonny Abubadika Carson.  Having just

          7  suffered from this tragic loss, Sonny's love for

          8  Black people into anger of the conditions at that

          9  time led him to unite with the movement for Shimma

         10  Ranga (phonetic) in our streets as the New York

         11  Eight Plus and Sonny Carson's organizations joined

         12  together.

         13                 Leadership concluded that crack was

         14  the principle contradiction killing Black people,

         15  and so was born the Black Men's Movement Against

         16  Crack.  Using the murder of Sonny's mother- in- law

         17  as a galvanizing focal point, Black men hit the

         18  streets to agitate our community, and Black men in

         19  particular, to flood the battlefield of a yet

         20  undeclared war against crack.

         21                 It is not an accident that 20 years

         22  after its birth, the Black Men's Movement is still

         23  on the streets declaring that these streets cease

         24  being free fire zones for killing our people.      Our

         25  mission is to recapture our communities, block by
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          2  block.  We seek to educate and agitate our youth, in

          3  particular, to take up the demand of bringing back

          4  Black to our minds, hearts and community, to re-

          5  establish the pride in our identity and the

          6  necessity of our unity.

          7                 The Black Men's Movement will carry

          8  on the legacy of our people's hero, Sonny Abubadika

          9  Carson.  We would not allow anyone to define us or

         10  determine who our heroes will or will not be. Sonny

         11  told us to love ourselves, to be proud to be Black,

         12  to be proud to be an African people.  We will defend

         13  our right to self determination by any means

         14  necessary.  We choose our own heroes. Re- name Gates

         15  Avenue Sonny Abubadika Carson Boulevard, freedom or

         16  death.

         17                 I must also add that addressing this

         18  whole procedure, it's highly selective, highly

         19  illegal and it's racist to its core, to single out

         20  Sonny amongst all the names when laws are already in

         21  place of how that procedure should be done.

         22                 Again, we understand that this is an

         23  organized motion, and it's coming from forces

         24  outside of the Black community that don't have any

         25  respect for the community, so when we put all bills
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          2  on notice that this illegal, racist procedure will

          3  not go unchallenged.  We, again, must state that the

          4  will of the people must be respected and their right

          5  to self determination will be defended.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          7  much.  Now we'll hear from Council Member Al Vann.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, thank you,

          9  Madam Chair and to my colleagues and to all of the

         10  people who have come to testify for their heroes and

         11  loved ones in their respective communities.  I

         12  commend you for that, and I am in full support of

         13  that.

         14                 In Bed- Stuy, where I serve as

         15  Councilperson, Community Board 3 responded to the

         16  request from the community organizations to pass a

         17  resolution asking that parts of Gate Avenue be named

         18  after two individuals.  One is Brother George

         19  Washington. He's a very prominent boxer and trainer.

         20    Almost all of the outstanding boxing personalities

         21  that have come out of Bed- Stuy have been trained by

         22  him, very, very well regarded young man.  At the

         23  same time at the same meeting, it may pass a

         24  resolution requesting of the City Council to re-

         25  name parts of 8th Avenue after Brother George
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          2  Washington and also after Sonny Abubadika Carson. I

          3  put in a request, which started the process, and

          4  that's why we're here today.

          5                 I have written a letter to all the

          6  Members of the City Council expressing my points of

          7  view.  I will not go into great detail.  They all

          8  are very much aware of my opinion of that. Let me

          9  say this, Sonny Abubadika Carson is dead. Whether

         10  you believe he was a saint or a devil, whether you

         11  thought he was a hero or a villain, he's dead.

         12  There's nothing that anyone can do to punish him or

         13  reward him.  Life and God do that.  We're here not

         14  to analyze or to revision or to try and figure out

         15  and understand who Sonny Carson was.  That is not

         16  the charge, and that is not what this Committee has

         17  to do.

         18                 The issue before this Committee is

         19  whether or not we wish to support the integrity of

         20  our institution, the City Council, but more

         21  importantly, whether or not we're going support what

         22  has been a tradition in this Council, the local

         23  prerogative when an issue only affects the local

         24  community.  It's very, very simple. We're not

         25  asking, don't vote -- you're not voting because Al
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          2  Vann wants you to vote.  You're not voting because

          3  Speaker Quinn wants you to vote.  You're not voting

          4  for or against of us.  You're only voting on what

          5  you understand the issue to be.

          6                 I tell you the issue is one local

          7  community, Bed- Stuy, said we want to name four

          8  blocks on a major street throughout Bed Stuy in

          9  memory of Sonny Abubadika Carson because on balance

         10  his contributions were significant, and we think we

         11  want to remember him.  And we want to do the same

         12  thing for George Washington, a prominent boxer

         13  trainer in our community.

         14                 So I don't want people get confused

         15  here and think, well, there's some people who don't

         16  even know Sonny Carson because of when they were

         17  born, and so forth.  When I opened up this

         18  discussion and presented the argument in the Black

         19  Latino and Asian Caucus, a young man says, who was

         20  Sonny Carson?  And you don't really have to know who

         21  Sonny Carson was to vote on my community's

         22  preference who we want to honor.  Just vote on the

         23  issue.  That's all I'm asking you.  I know that you

         24  will do whatever is in your heart and mind.  I just

         25  ask you to follow the protocol, follow the custom,
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          2  follow tradition of this institute, and let that be

          3  your vote.  Thank you for the opportunity, Madam

          4  Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          6  Before we continue with discussion on the re- naming

          7  of Sonny Carson, Council Member Bob Jackson would

          8  like to make a statement about two street names in

          9  his district.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you,

         11  Madam Chair. I'm here today in order to listen to

         12  what people have to say regarding the street names.

         13  I am a sponsor of this proposed legislation, but

         14  specifically let me just say that one street that's

         15  being named, Eileen Sweeney Place, at the northwest

         16  corner of West 207th Street and Broadway sits in my

         17  district.  I've had the opportunity to know Eileen

         18  when she was alive for at least the past 10 years,

         19  and she worked in the same office in which I worked

         20  in because we shared the same office space with

         21  State Assemblyman Herman Denny Farrell, and she

         22  worked for Herman Denny Farrell as a community

         23  liaison, and her contributions to northern Manhattan

         24  spans decades and decades in northern Manhattan.  So

         25  it is indeed my pleasure to support the co-naming of
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          2  the street in her honor.

          3                 Then also with respect to Alvin Ailey

          4  American Dance Theater, my family has been

          5  affiliated with the Alvin Ailey Dance Theater for

          6  approximately the last 15 years.  My youngest

          7  daughter and my middle daughter attended the Alvin

          8  Ailey lower school division.  In fact, Samiah

          9  (phonetic), who is 20 years and is a junior at the

         10  Juilliard School and a dance major, was dancing in

         11  the Lower Division for approximately 15 years, and

         12  she currently works there part- time as an assistant

         13  instructor.

         14                 So knowing what that Foundation and

         15  that theater has done for thousands and thousands

         16  and thousands of young people, and more specifically

         17  to two of my little girls, I wholeheartedly support

         18  the co-naming of that particular location at the

         19  corner of 55th Street and 9th Avenue after Alvin

         20  Ailey American Dance Theater.

         21                 I was not aware until I read the

         22  Honorable Percy E. Sutton at 5th Avenue between

         23  124th Street and Marcus Garvey Park and 142nd

         24  Street.  Obviously, my knowledge of Percy Sutton and

         25  his involvement in New York City, more specifically
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          2  the northern Manhattan Harlem area and what he has

          3  done for this City overall, I truly believe, based

          4  on everything that I know, that it is a rightful

          5  recognition of what he has done for our great City.

          6  I want to thank you for the opportunity to be heard.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          8  much.  We just have another person that signed up to

          9  testify, and we'll hear her right now.  Shauwana

         10  Dill?

         11                 MS. DILL:  Good morning.  It's an

         12  honor to be here today.  I'm here because I wanted

         13  to have a street named after my father, the late

         14  Freddy Dill, Sr., professionally known in the

         15  community as Poor Freddy.

         16                 When I started the procedure of

         17  having a street named, they told me I had to get a

         18  petition, and I received over 900 names in less than

         19  three days.  Then I was told that I had to receive

         20  names from the people on the street on which I

         21  wanted the street to be named.  Everyone was in

         22  approval to having this street named, and the reason

         23  why I chose this street is because it's where his

         24  business is now, where we're running Poor Freddy's

         25  Tire Center. When he passed away, the whole
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          2  community was in mourning.  Companies on that block

          3  shut down on Merrick Boulevard to attend his

          4  funeral, and I think it would just be something

          5  great in the community where the people can see a

          6  name on the street that they can relate to for some

          7  years to come.

          8                 Also, I just opened up another

          9  business and because of the great role model that my

         10  father was, I am benefitting from his great success

         11  and him being a great person in our community. I

         12  hear that every day in my new business, and I'm just

         13  honored to be here today.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Council Member Vann?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.  I wanted to share with the Committee.

         18  A few days ago, I had a phone interview with Clyde

         19  Haberman of the New York Times.  He wrote a piece

         20  the following day, and I thought it was an attempt

         21  to be very even handed.  I really applaud him for

         22  that.  That's not always the case dealing with media

         23  people.

         24                 He asked me a question which I

         25  answered incompletely.  He says, well, what if
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          2  somebody wanted to name Mr. Imus?  Somebody

          3  mentioned Al Gotti, how would you feel about that? I

          4  said, I would not be in support of that, and I would

          5  not.  But had I completed the answer, but if a

          6  community wishes to identify someone in their

          7  community and to name a street after them, though I

          8  may personally be opposed to that, that does not

          9  negate the right of that community to do that.  I

         10  think that's a very important principle that we have

         11  to understand and acknowledge here.

         12                 As abominable or however disgusted I

         13  may feel that individual is in terms of my

         14  experience and my perception of them, if a community

         15  wishes to be identified with this individual, and

         16  they say, he's one of ours, and they see the good

         17  that he or she did, who am I to say no?  And who are

         18  we to say no?  So that's the crucial point I wanted

         19  to make.  I wanted to share that with you because

         20  one of you may have read that in the New York Times.

         21    I wanted to you know what my complete answer would

         22  have been because I think that is a principle I

         23  wanted to bring to your attention. Thank you, Madam

         24  Chair, for the opportunity.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.
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          2  We've been joined by Council Member Joe Addabbo from

          3  Queens.  Ali Lamont, Jr., this will be the last

          4  testimony.  Donovan Richards.  You may start.

          5                 MR. LAMONT:  Yes, honored Councilmen,

          6  ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Ali Lamont, Jr.

          7  I'm from the Committee to Honor Black Heroes, Sonny

          8  Carson's organization that he created. I'm here

          9  because I was a little disturbed of an article that

         10  I read in the paper about kidnapping.  You see, no

         11  one in America in any type of authority should tell

         12  or refer to Black folks as kidnappers.  We are

         13  Africans, and the reason why we're in this part of

         14  the world is because we were kidnapped and brought

         15  here, so I think the name calling and the character

         16  assassination has to end.  Live up to what you say

         17  and do.

         18                 You promised Black folk at the end of

         19  slavery, supposedly, 40 acres and a mule.  That has

         20  never happened, so who's a liar and a kidnapper?

         21  We've got to stop this name calling because there's

         22  enough in the past that has not been rectified for

         23  us to move into the future.

         24                 Now, we're on this planet together.

         25  We ain't going no place.  You don't try it out of
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          2  space, so let's try to live together here and get

          3  along together, create something, you understand

          4  what I'm saying?  About cancer, that's what we

          5  should be focusing on.  What about education?  Our

          6  children, Black children, don't know anything about

          7  a man they call John Hanson.  John Hanson was a

          8  President who was a Black man and more here in

          9  America during the time of George Washington.  How

         10  do you think George Washington became a general?

         11  Generals don't designate themselves as generals.

         12  That Black man, John Hanson, designated him General

         13  George Washington, who supposedly chopped down the

         14  cherry tree and never told a lie.

         15                 There's too much hidden about Black

         16  folks.  I'm telling you, white folks, you don't know

         17  anything about Black folks.  You need to start

         18  listening and paying attention.  The Committee to

         19  Honor Black Heroes you should come to visit sometime

         20  to get a lesson in history because that's where we

         21  archive and try to maintain some semblance of truth

         22  of what our contributions here in America has been.

         23  So that's all I have to say with Sonny Carson

         24  because he has children, he has grandchildren, and

         25  he has family here.
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          2                 What are you going to tell them about

          3  this character assassination?  Because you didn't

          4  know that he was in the 82nd Airborne jumping out of

          5  airplanes in Korea, and his first education was when

          6  he was shooting at the Asians, one hollered across

          7  the river, "Black soldier, why do you shoot us?"

          8  And you can't drink water in Mississippi.  That's

          9  insulting. So that was the journey and the beginning

         10  of his education, and that's all of us should spend

         11  more time in education, real, true education to find

         12  out and seek the truth, the real truth, because when

         13  it's all over, there's a lot of us going to kiss

         14  Sonny Carson's foot.  That's all I have to say on

         15  the matter.  I thank you, ladies and gentlemen.

         16                 MR. RICHARDS:  Good morning, all.  My

         17  name is Donovan Richards.  I'm representing

         18  Councilman James Sanders, Jr. Today, who

         19  unfortunately is running, or trying to get here.

         20  I'm here today in support of the Sonny Carson re-

         21  naming, and he wanted me to let everyone know he was

         22  definitely in support of this street re- naming

         23  because Sonny stood for the community.  Sonny made a

         24  big difference in the community, and it is, as

         25  Council Member Vann said, the local community's
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          2  decision on who they yield or think is their

          3  community leader.

          4                 Now there was a another street re-

          5  naming that was proposed, or is being proposed, for

          6  a guy by the name of Al Jolson. Now if anyone is

          7  familiar with Al Jolson, he was a gentleman who

          8  actually participated in blackface.  He would mock

          9  Black people and run around with the blackface

         10  painted on and make fun of African Americans.  We

         11  feel that Al Jolson should have to go through this

         12  same process as Sonny Carson, being that he was more

         13  out there with the racism.  Not to say Sonny Carson

         14  was a racist.  We don't know anything of Sonny

         15  Carson back then, but we do know what Sonny Carson

         16  has done in the present.  So we ask that, of course,

         17  the community's consideration is taken in first, not

         18  the legislature. This is a community decision, and

         19  this is why we stand with the community, and Council

         20  Member Sanders stands with the community on this

         21  street re- naming.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         23  much.  I have sat here as Chair, and have listened,

         24  and I would be remiss if I didn't say that I'm quite

         25  disturbed as to what I know is going to happen next.
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          2    It is up to a community to decide who they want to

          3  name a street or co-name a street after.  It is up

          4  to individuals to decide who they choose to make

          5  their heroes, and in light of what happened in

          6  Germany and how Black men are still being

          7  characterized, we need to thank God for Sonny Carson

          8  and the fact that he instilled in a lot of Black men

          9  their sense of importance. When we look to do things

         10  in this body, we need to make sure we do it even

         11  handedly, and that what is good for one community

         12  needs to be good for everyone's community.  If we

         13  are going to have a discussion on what we think

         14  disturbs us about Sonny Carson, we better make sure

         15  we don't have historical amnesia when we have those

         16  discussions, and that we tell the truth as the truth

         17  is, not as we want it to be or as we colorize it to

         18  be.

         19                 We have had names come through this

         20  body, and we look around this country.  We have

         21  things named after Thomas Jefferson who sold his own

         22  children into slavery, so we need to be very careful

         23  on what we do next in this body in terms of the

         24  motion that's coming up because we are setting a

         25  precedent going forward that anything that one
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          2  community finds offensive about another, then we can

          3  stop it.  We, as elected officials, are forgetting

          4  that our role is to serve the people and not the

          5  people to serve us. Going forward and looking at

          6  this issue, I am quite disturbed by the precedent

          7  that's being set, and I'll say that again.  Because

          8  then we need to therefore look back at the streets

          9  that are named throughout this City and make sure

         10  that everybody that has a street named or co-named

         11  after them, is honorable, and that when we have

         12  these conversations, we need to be able to pull out

         13  the laundry list because many of the things that

         14  Sonny Carson stood up against, police brutality,

         15  we're dealing with it now. Shawn Bell.  We can close

         16  our eyes and go back 20 years, and the arguments and

         17  the things that he was fighting for then, we are

         18  dealing with now.  So we can't pick and choose what

         19  we want to honor and who we want to honor and then

         20  say someone is worthy and someone isn't worthy.

         21                 That being said, I will call,

         22  reluctantly, on Council Member Gerson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair, and at this time, for reasons I will

         25  state, I reluctantly introduce a resolution, which I
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          2  will hand to the Clerk for distribution and reading

          3  with the proposed amendment, the proposed revised

          4  legislation.  I'll await the Clerk's reading before

          5  my statement, if I may.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  As soon as the

          7  Clerk hands out all the amended motions, he will

          8  then read it.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Motion to amend

         10  proposed Introduction No. 556- A.  The motion to

         11  amend proposed Introduction No. 566A (sic) is as

         12  follows:  Proposed Introduction No. 556A is further

         13  amended by deleting Section 2, re- numbering all

         14  sections of the bill that follow Section 2,

         15  respectively.  To reflect such deletion, amending

         16  the title to reduce the number of thoroughfares and

         17  public places named from 52 to 51 and deleting the

         18  title of the billed reference to Sonny Abubadika

         19  Carson Avenue.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair. Without question, Sonny Carson did a

         22  lot of good in his life, probably much more than

         23  most individuals.  He certainly deserves to be

         24  remembered and appropriately celebrated for all of

         25  his accomplishments and contributions.
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          2                 As none of us are perfect, and as I

          3  dislike speaking critically of still the fairly

          4  recently departed, indulge me and allow me to say

          5  that I hope and pray that the soul of Sonny Carson

          6  is bound up with our merciful God in the realm of

          7  blissful eternal life.  But we in this earthly realm

          8  have to apply a very human standard for co-naming

          9  our streets.

         10                 I believe that we are one City, one

         11  unified City, and I believe that the streets in the

         12  lower Manhattan district I represent fundamentally

         13  belong as much to all New Yorkers, each of you from

         14  Brooklyn and elsewhere, as they do to the

         15  constituents within my district.  So I would

         16  vehemently oppose calling any community border or

         17  anyone who sought to co-name any street after Don

         18  Imus or any other individual whom any community in

         19  any part of our City found offensive or

         20  objectionable.

         21                 The standard for which we must select

         22  individuals for street co-naming must involve an

         23  assessment of the totality of the public lives of

         24  the people we so honor.  While as a council of mere

         25  mortals, we lack the ability to adequately inquire
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          2  and assess the personal lives and sentiments of

          3  individuals, when we choose to provide what is one

          4  of the pentultimate City honors to an individual, we

          5  must ask whether the totality of his or her public

          6  life, taking into account all of his or her public

          7  actions and public statements, add up to an example

          8  of public conduct which we want to pass on to our

          9  children to emulate for generations to come.       I

         10  have no doubt that my colleagues are correct, that

         11  we have made mistakes in the past by co-naming

         12  streets for individuals who do not meet this

         13  standard, and some co-names probably should be

         14  repealed, and I will support those efforts, but past

         15  mistakes provide no excuse for conscious repetition

         16                 Based on the aforesaid standard of

         17  the totality of a public life, and based on the

         18  information of the life of Mr. Carson developed and

         19  provided to us to date, I cannot support the

         20  co-naming of any street in our City after Sonny

         21  Carson.  I could not explain to the Asian American

         22  community I represent how we could co-name a street

         23  for an individual who personally led the campaign of

         24  boycott against Korean owned delis with signs that

         25  read, "Don't shop with people who don't look like
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          2  us."  I could not explain to the Caucasian

          3  communities I represent how we could co-name a

          4  street for an individual who when asked whether he

          5  was anti-Semitic, responded as follows, and I quote,

          6   "I am not anti-Semitic. Don't just limit me to a

          7  little group of people.  I am anti- white." I could

          8  not explain to the African American communities I

          9  represent how with all the many brilliant,

         10  outstanding and unifying African American leaders

         11  for whom streets have not yet been co-named, we

         12  could first co-name a street after Mr. Carson.

         13                 Most of all, I cannot explain to the

         14  entire community I represent overall, consisting of

         15  people of all races and backgrounds and creeds, most

         16  of whom are trying so hard, so desperately to

         17  overcome past divisions and to forge a genuine

         18  community of neighborly love and mutual support

         19  across all lines of demarcation, how we could now

         20  select an individual who apparently was divisive and

         21  offensive to so many.

         22                 As everyone knows, I have deep and

         23  profound respect and esteem for my colleagues, Al

         24  Vann and Charles Barron and my Chair, Helen Foster,

         25  and I am willing to concede that the process
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          2  followed to date has not allowed for sufficient

          3  discourse and dialogue on this issue, and perhaps

          4  maybe we should do for street co-namings what we do

          5  for other legislation, and that is have a

          6  preliminary hearing before the hearing on which we

          7  take a vote. And so, I make this motion without

          8  legal prejudice to an application by the proponents

          9  to re-submit this co-naming in the future.  As the

         10  Chair knows, I actually would have preferred to have

         11  made a motion to postpone consideration of this part

         12  of the bill, but that procedure is not available to

         13  us under the Council rules.

         14                 But one way or the other, by way one

         15  procedure or another, for the reasons I cited above,

         16  it would be irresponsible for us at this time to

         17  proceed with this co-naming.  We must uphold the

         18  standard that unifies our City, that brings people

         19  together across all lines in love, in a neighborly

         20  fellowship, and which recognizes that while we are

         21  different communities and communities' needs and

         22  prerogatives need to be respected in so many ways,

         23  we are one City, and the streets belong to all of

         24  us.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  That
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          2  was quite eloquent.  I think that it's nice in

          3  theory that we are one City and that we are not

          4  divided, but the reality is that we are.  The

          5  reality is that Black men are still being brutalized

          6  by the police, and my concern is that we don't talk

          7  the truth, and at least Sonny Carson spoke the truth

          8  and said what he meant and said what he felt.

          9                 It concerns me that we tend to have

         10  amnesia when we forget the historical context in

         11  which Sonny Carson was thrust into the media.  It

         12  was at a time when Blacks, if they walked in

         13  Bensonhurst, watermelons were being thrown at them.

         14  It was at a time where Korean store owners were not

         15  employing people in the community.  It was at a time

         16  where this City did anything but try to pull us

         17  together.  He stood up and said to his community to

         18  be proud in oneself.

         19                 So we can look now and say, let's do

         20  things right, and it's always interesting to me that

         21  when it comes to Black people and moving on, that's

         22  when we decide to be fair.  We didn't see the need

         23  to be fair when Al Jolson came before us, and the

         24  fact that the community supported it, many of us

         25  went with it, but now when it comes to Sonny Carson,
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          2  and I believe it's about five blocks in Bed-Stuy,

          3  now we have the desire to be fair.  That concerns

          4  me. If we are going to, as a body, as a legislative

          5  body that is put together and elected by the people,

          6  so people remember, people don't do to us what we

          7  don't allow them to do.  We have the power to vote

          8  people in or out.  As a legislative body, now we

          9  have decided that we want to do the procedures

         10  differently.  That concerns me.  We've got to be

         11  consistent across the board for every community and

         12  for everybody.  And when we don't do that, we

         13  further divide this City that is already divided, so

         14  it's not Sonny Carson that divided it.  It happened

         15  way before him, and it still exists now, and what we

         16  do here, going to sever and delete his name, further

         17  divides the City and does not bring it together.

         18  Council Member Vann?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  I want to thank

         20  you, Madam Chair, for those very eloquent and very

         21  profound statements that you made.  In fact, I could

         22  just say amen, but I wanted to reiterate something

         23  that you touched on that I mentioned briefly in the

         24  letter that I sent to all the members.

         25                 Things must be done in context.  Some
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          2  people do not realize that a few years ago in the

          3  late fifties, moving into early sixties, when the

          4  Black Power Movement actually started, people

          5  referred to us as Negroes.  There was one Black

          6  principal in the whole school system in New York

          7  City.  Unemployment is still high for Black people.

          8  It was far greater in those days.  We were shown

          9  utterly disrespect as a people.

         10                 There were people like Sonny and

         11  others, who stood up.  We have fight against it.  It

         12  was a time where Black people began to define

         13  themselves, who they were.  We're not Negroes. We're

         14  African people, but we were brainwashed, and not

         15  only were we brainwashed, we were denied access to

         16  education, to employment, and so this is the time

         17  that we're talking about.  How were a people going

         18  to break through all of this?  All the remnants of

         19  racism, all the remnants of slavery.  This is what

         20  we were confronted with as a people.

         21                 And so for people to stand up against

         22  it, when you are oppressed, what is the standard of

         23  behavior when you're fighting against that

         24  oppression?  There's a certain way I'm going to tell

         25  you to get your foot off my neck?  There's a certain
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          2  way for me to ask you to let me run my own

          3  community?  No, I don't think so.

          4                 So to take out of context the actions

          5  of any one individual, be it Sonny Carson or anybody

          6  else, and say, well, you really can't honor him

          7  because he did this and he did that.  It's unfair.

          8  It's unjust.  It's divisive.  You're opening up a

          9  Pandora's Box that need not be opened.

         10                 I believe in the consciousness of the

         11  members of the City Council. I believe that you are

         12  going to vote your consciousness.  I believe you're

         13  going to vote the right way.  You have to prove to

         14  me that you're not going to do the right thing, that

         15  you're going to do some politically whatever issue

         16  in public, in broad daylight?  I don't think so.  I

         17  have high expectations of you.  I've served with

         18  you.  I know the decency that you have in your

         19  heart, and I don't think you're going to go with

         20  this sham. I think you're going to do the right

         21  thing and support my community just as I would

         22  support your community.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         24  Council Member Barron?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you,
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          2  Madam Chair. First, to Alan, I think your statement,

          3  your motion is dishonest. I think you're being

          4  hypocritical.  I think you could care less about

          5  Sonny Carson.  I think you're doing this for the

          6  Speaker because you haven't the spine --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Charles --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Let me say

          9  what I want to say, please.  I let them talk.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Charles, I am

         11  going to let you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Let me speak.

         13    I mean, they said a lot of things that were

         14  offensive, and he can respond back.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But I do --

         16  wait, wait, wait.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  He can

         18  respond back.  All right, go ahead.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, no, no.  I

         20  will be respected, as Chair.  What I am asking is

         21  that whatever personal --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  It's not

         23  personal.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Whatever you

         25  want to say about Alan, feel free to.  Not at this
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          2  moment.  I'd like you to speak on what we heard on

          3  Sonny Carson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I'm speaking

          5  on the motion.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am asking you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  All right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I think the

         10  statement is hypocritical.  I think the statement is

         11  dishonest.  I think the statement reflects the

         12  bidding of the Speaker.  I believe the Speaker is

         13  reflecting the desire of the Mayor because I believe

         14  that this motion does not carry any significant

         15  research on Sonny Carson.

         16                 If you take the statement that they

         17  said that he said he was anti- white, well, why

         18  don't you tell them the historical context in which

         19  he said that?  Sonny Carson was doing a civic

         20  responsibility registering people to vote for the

         21  Dinkins campaign, getting people that normally don't

         22  come out to the vote in our neighborhood.  He was

         23  minding his business running around Brooklyn to pull

         24  out the vote, and the media attacked him, called him

         25  names, said he was anti-Semitic, he was not even
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          2  mentioning anything about the Jewish community, and

          3  he got frustrated and said, leave me alone, I'm

          4  anti- all of you, just get out of here. That's what

          5  that was.

          6                 The Korean boycott?  We buy from

          7  Korean stores all the time, and Sonny Carson never

          8  said, don't buy from any Korean store because

          9  they're Korean.  He said, don't buy from that Korean

         10  because they slapped a Black woman, and you can't

         11  hold nobody responsible for a picket sign.  If

         12  that's the case, then every demonstration that we

         13  have, we'd have to look at picket signs and say,

         14  well, whoever called this demonstration is

         15  responsible for that picket sign.  That's why in

         16  this resolution they have a picket sign as research.

         17    That's not research.  The issue was disrespecting

         18  a Black woman who was slapped by a Korean store

         19  owner.

         20                 Then if you don't like Sonny Carson,

         21  then vote against the whole package.  When you get

         22  up there to vote, we can vote against the whole

         23  package.  We have a right to do that.  Never in the

         24  history of the City Council have they ever pulled

         25  out a single street name.  There was a time when
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          2  they used to vote for single street names.  There

          3  was a time when we voted for them at every stated

          4  meeting where we put all of the names together, then

          5  Gifford Miller, the then Speaker, said he didn't

          6  want us to look like we were a Council that was just

          7  passing street name signs all the time, so we

          8  decided in a democratic way that we would take them

          9  in groups.  50, 60 at a time and do it twice a year.

         10                 So if you want to be honest and want

         11  to change the process, then pass this, and let's

         12  change the process and go back to doing a single

         13  street every meeting, so that we can know the

         14  history of everybody.

         15                 And don't tell me that we should --

         16  this was a recent pass.  Mammy.  If street signs are

         17  good for Mammy, they're good for Sonny.  Because

         18  this is blatant racism.

         19                 The minstrel show wasn't just white

         20  actors trying to make it.  These were white actors

         21  that were supporting characters in the minstrel show

         22  like Zip Coon and Jiggerboo Tambo.  Those were the

         23  people who played in the minstrel shows with Al

         24  Jolson.  We sit here, and we wanted to make sure Bob

         25  Marley's street name got passed, so we had to pass a
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          2  package with Al Jolson in it because we wanted

          3  Marley passed.  So you should be able to have to

          4  settle for Sonny Carson, and there's no comparison

          5  to Jolson to Carson.

          6                 This is absurd.  We're going to look

          7  at whether it's even legal, but for us to take our

          8  time when we're here we're trying to pass a $56

          9  billion budget, we're trying to save Starrett City

         10  from affordable housing, we're trying to stop police

         11  from being out of control in our communities.  And

         12  for the Speaker to come forth and use our Council

         13  Members to split us now -- we're talking about

         14  divisive.  This is going to be extremely divisive. I

         15  want to urge the Committee Members to vote it down.

         16  Don't let it be a white and black vote that happens

         17  here. Just vote this down, and let's get together

         18  and talk.  Let's get together and negotiate how we

         19  want to proceed, so that we can make sure that no

         20  street naming goes forward that a Council Member

         21  does not want to go forward.

         22                 To do it this way, in the blatant

         23  disrespect of democracy, a fundamental democratic

         24  process, to just flip it like this without any

         25  discussion, this has never been done before. Never.
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          2  You can't tell me that all of these street names are

          3  so cleansing that we didn't have to have a name

          4  pulled.  I suggest to this Committee, vote it down,

          5  and let's have some serious discussion about it and

          6  do it the right way.  Don't let us be manipulated to

          7  divide us.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          9  Briefly.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Madam Chair,

         11  I need to ask for a point of personal privilege.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Briefly.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, I'll be

         14  as brief as my colleagues.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, no.  See,

         16  okay, I'm not having it.  I'm not having it.  I'm

         17  not having it.  Both of you. I'm not having it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Madam Chair,

         19  I do, as you know, respect your position and your

         20  chair, so let me just respond briefly to the three

         21  points by my colleague.

         22                 First of all, to state or imply that

         23  I would do anything at the behest of the Speaker or

         24  any other official, and for no other reason, is

         25  laughable by anyone who knows my record in public
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          2  service on this Council and before this Council, let

          3  alone my record of interaction with the Speaker, who

          4  I did support. Actually later today we will be

          5  having a vote on another issue where I will be

          6  taking the diametrically opposite position.  I will

          7  be supporting you on the pedicab. No one lets me do

          8  anything or not do anything.  I advocate in

          9  accordance with the conscience and my best, my

         10  conscience and my best evaluation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Council Member

         12  Gerson, just one minute.  Just one minute.  Just one

         13  minute.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair. Secondly --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just one minute.

         17    Charles, I'm respectfully asking would you just

         18  let him finish?  Thank you.  No, no.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I did not say

         20  anything about --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm not having

         22  this. Gentlemen, gentlemen.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You're

         24  correct, Madam Chair. It's a good thing we have our

         25  chair.
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          2                 Secondly, I never thought I would

          3  hear my colleague state that just because we have

          4  never done anything in the past, we should not do

          5  anything new now.  I actually agree with you, as I

          6  stated in my statement, that the process does need

          7  to be reformed, and I will work with you on reform,

          8  but we have a decision to make today, and we have to

          9  make the decision on the basis of the public

         10  statements and comments made by each of the

         11  individuals we are considering.

         12                 I grew up in this City, and I well

         13  remember the times of which we are discussing, and I

         14  remember the hurt and the divisiveness that can be

         15  caused by words spoken and by actions taken.  We all

         16  know that there are a lot more examples I could have

         17  cited.

         18                 The point is, and we should have more

         19  discourse and dialogue, but I'll conclude on this

         20  note, Madam Chair.  When it comes to how we respond

         21  to history, the question before us is as we select a

         22  public activity, such as a street co-naming, ought

         23  we not to be very clear that we are not emulating

         24  and holding up to example words and statements by

         25  anyone of any creed or by an example which were
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          2  hurtful to any community or any individual?  I have

          3  in the past opposed honors to persons of all

          4  backgrounds who have made such equivalent

          5  statements.  It would be hypocritical of me to do

          6  otherwise in this case.

          7                 We must seek to overcome and not

          8  perpetuate our histories of division, and we must do

          9  so by applying a standard that for street co-namings

         10  especially, every community in all parts of the City

         11  find the name appropriate and acceptable from the

         12  standpoint of it not being able to emulate or hold

         13  as an example any words of any division of any

         14  potential interpretation of hatred against any

         15  individual or any group.  That is the point.  Let us

         16  move forward as one unified City and community and

         17  overcome and not perpetuate past divisiveness.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  I'm

         20  going to ask the Clerk to call the roll, please.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Motion to amend.

         22  Council Member Foster?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  James.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  (MS. JAMES

          6  speaking from audience).

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gallagher.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member James.

         10    I have a vote of three in the affirmative, one in

         11  the negative and one abstention.  Motion to amend

         12  proposed Introduction 556A is adopted.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Before the

         14  members leave, we have to vote on the amended

         15  package.  Let me say that I am quite disappointed

         16  and to the community, let this not be the end.

         17  Gentlemen, stop.  Gentlemen, you're falling right

         18  into what they want to do.  Stop it.  You're doing

         19  what they're expecting you to do.  They're doing

         20  what they expect you to do.  Gentlemen, gentlemen.

         21  They are doing what they expect you to do.  Stop,

         22  stop. Gentlemen, they're doing what they expect you

         23  to do, please, please.  Thank you.

         24                 We're going to call the vote on the

         25  amended bill. We're distributing it now.  Yes, you
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          2  can call the roll, please.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

          4  Foster.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gerson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  James.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         13  Gallagher.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of four in

         16  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         17  abstentions, Introduction 556-A is adopted.

         18  Members, please sign the Committee Report.  Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Seeing no more

         21  testimony, this meeting is adjourned, with the

         22  promise of this Committee Chair to go forward and

         23  make sure that all names that have been named will

         24  be reviewed as this name was reviewed and going

         25  forward to amend or change the process, so that we

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  co-name streets and name streets consistently

          3  throughout the City, and we don't pick and choose,

          4  because it causes more division than pulling out a

          5  name.  Thank you.

          6                 (Hearing concluded 11:45 a.m.)
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